RECEIVED

Jul 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001289

Tasha Jones and Shaniqua Thompson, Respondents,

v.

Lyndon Southern Insurance Company,
Safe Choice Insurance, LLC, and
Jupiter Managing General Agency, Inc, Defendants,

Of which

Lyndon Southern Insurance Company is the Appellant.

CORRECTED APPELLANT'S INITIAL OPENING BRIEF

MAYNARD NEXSEN, PC
Kirsten E. Small, SC Bar No. 75681
Susan P. McWilliams, SC Bar No. 3918
104 S. Main Street, 9th Floor
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 370-2211
KSmall@maynardnexsen.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Lyndon's motions for reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, for JNOV under Rule 50(b), SCRCP, and for a new trial under Rule 59(a), SCRCP were untimely, where (1) the court's permission is not required to file a Rule 59(e) motion ten days after the jury's verdict, and (2) the filing of the JNOV and new trial motions along with the Rule 59(e) motion presented no new issues and could not have prejudiced Respondents?
2. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Ms. Thompson, who was neither a contracting party nor a "named insured," had standing to pursue breach of contract and first-party bad faith claims against Lyndon?
3. Was Lyndon entitled to judgment in its favor on Ms. Jones's breach of contract and first-party bad faith claims, where (1) Lyndon promptly and fairly processed and responded to her claims for property damage and bodily injury; (2) Ms. Jones was required to obtain a judgment against the unknown tortfeasor in order to establish entitlement to benefits under the uninsured motorist ("UM") policy issued by Lyndon; and (3) Lyndon never had a reasonable opportunity to settle within policy limits?
4. Is Lyndon entitled to either (1) a new trial *nisi remittitur* to correct the excessive damages award, or (2) a new trial absolute based on personal attacks by opposing counsel?
5. Did the circuit court err in failing to apply the statutory cap on punitive damages, where there are no facts to support an exemption from the cap?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a claim for uninsured motorist (“UM”) benefits under an automobile insurance policy issued by Appellant Lyndon Southern Insurance Company (“Lyndon”). Respondents are Tasha Jones, the contracting party and “named insured” under the policy, and Shaniqua Thompson, an “insured person” under the Policy’s UM provision.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Accident and Initial Above-Limits Demands

On June 15, 2017, a vehicle driven by Ms. Jones was rear-ended by an unknown driver who fled the scene. (R. p. __ (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 14-17).) Ms. Jones and her passengers—Ms. Thompson and a third individual—were injured in the accident. (R. p. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 19, 21); R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 73:19-22).) At the time of the accident, Ms. Jones’s vehicle was covered by an automobile insurance policy (the “Policy”) issued by Lyndon, for which Ms. Jones had elected the statutory minimum UM coverage of \$25,000 per person and \$50,000 per accident. (R. p. __ (Renewal Declaration at 2).) Ms. Jones is the “named insured” on the Policy. (R. p. __ (Policy at 3).) At trial, Ms. Jones testified that the parties to the insurance contract are “me and Lyndon.” (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 75:11-15).) She also agreed that the coverage limits for UM claims were “\$25,000 per person for bodily injury” and “up to \$50,000 total.” (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 76:1-5).) Ms. Thompson is neither a named insured nor is she otherwise a contracting party; according to her own testimony, she was “just a ride[r]” in the vehicle at the time of the accident. (R. pp. __ (Trial Tr. 122:22-123:6).)

Respondents and the third passenger initiated a claim for UM benefits under the Policy on June 16, 2017, the day after the accident. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 93:19-94:3).) Lyndon responded that same day, including by arranging a rental car for Ms. Jones and scheduling an appraisal and estimate of her vehicle. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 94:4-9).) By July 24, a mere 38 days after submission of the UM claim, Lyndon determined Ms. Jones's vehicle was a total loss and issued payment to her and the lienholder. (R. pp. __ (Trial Tr. 95:11-96:7).)

Ms. Jones, Ms. Thompson, and the third individual were all injured in the accident and incurred medical expenses. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 73:11-24).) After the third individual accepted an offer of settlement from Lyndon, approximately \$42,000 remained under the \$50,000-per-accident coverage limit. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 147:13-19); R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 244:15-16).) On October 18, 2017, Respondents' counsel transmitted a demand letter and damages package to Lyndon via its claims administrator. (R. pp. __ (Demand Letter of Oct. 18, 2017).) The demand letter was not a time-limited demand for policy limits. Rather, stated that Ms. Jones had incurred medical bills in the amount of \$9,586.95 and that Ms. Thompson had incurred \$9,780.71 in medical bills. (R. pp. __ (Demand Letter at 1-2).) They demanded \$65,000.00 each to settle the case, an amount far in excess of the remaining UM coverage available under the Policy. (R. p. __ (Demand Letter at 2).) Following review of the medical records, Lyndon extended settlement offers of \$7,500 to Ms. Jones and \$8,660 to Ms. Thompson. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 81:2-13); R. p. __ (Offer Letter of Oct. 31, 2017).) Although Ms. Jones acknowledged that the purpose of sending the demand letter was to initiate a process of negotiation with Lyndon, Respondents did not

answer Lyndon's offer letter with a revised demand. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 80:21-24); R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 103:14-104:4).)

B. John Doe Action

On January 18, 2018, Respondents filed a "John Doe" action against the unknown driver who had hit Ms. Jones's vehicle.¹ (R. pp. __ (John Doe Complaint).) Lyndon was served with the Summons and Complaint. (R. p. __ (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 23-24).) No appearance was made by the unknown driver. On September 28, 2018, the circuit court granted default judgment against John Doe and scheduled a damages hearing for January 30, 2019. (R. p. __ (Order of Judgment of Aug. 4, 2020); R. p. __ (Notice of Hearing).)

Counsel for Lyndon attended the damages hearing and appeared on the record on behalf of John Doe, as permitted by statute.² (R. p. __ (Affidavit of Ransome H. Helmly ("Helmly Aff.") ¶¶ 2-3).) After discussions with the court and Respondents' counsel, a continuance was granted so Lyndon's counsel could gain familiarity with the matter. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 3).) The court instructed counsel to file a notice of appearance along with the appropriate motion for continuance and filing fee. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 4).) The damages hearing was subsequently rescheduled for June 6, 2019. (R. p. __ (Notice of Hearing).) On June 5, Respondents' counsel and counsel for Lyndon discussed that neither of them would be able to attend the scheduled damages hearing and that both

¹ When a UM claim arises from a hit-and-run accident, the insured has a statutory cause of action against the unknown driver. *See* S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-180.

² Pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-77-180, "[t]he insurer has the right to defend in the name of John Doe."

would be sending substitute counsel to appear. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 7).)

In an email sent at approximately 10:00 p.m. on the eve of the damages hearing, Respondents' asked if Lyndon "[could] get at least 30K apiece to settle the case" and stating that if Lyndon were to make such an offer, substitute counsel for Respondents would recommend they accept it. (R. p. __ (Email of June 5, 2019).) This demand, for a total of \$60,000, exceeded both the policy limits of \$50,000 and the remaining coverage of \$42,000. Again, Respondents did not demand policy limits. Moreover, Ms. Jones testified that at the time this demand was made, she would not have accepted an offer to settle within policy limits. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 108:9-24).)

Inadvertently, the notice of appearance for Lyndon's counsel was not filed until June 5, 2019, the day before the hearing. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 8 & Ex. B).) On the morning of June 6, counsel confirmed that his appearance had been entered and was reflected on the docket. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 10 & Ex. C).) Notwithstanding this, at the outset of the hearing the court was unable to confirm entry of counsel's appearance and consequently prohibited substitute counsel from appearing. (R. p. __ (Helmly Aff. ¶ 11).)

On June 19, 2019, the court entered judgment against John Doe. (R. pp. __ (Order of Judgment of June 19, 2019).) The court found that Ms. Jones had incurred medical costs of \$9,586.95 and that Ms. Thompson had incurred medical costs of \$9,780.71. (R. p. __ (Order of Judgment ¶¶ 3-4).) The court further noted that both Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson "testified how their quality of life was affected by this accident and that they still experience difficulties they associate with this accident." (R. p. __ (Order of Judgment ¶ 5).) With no further analysis of the evidence or discussion of the law, the court awarded

Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson \$50,000 each against John Doe. (R. p. __ (Order of Judgment at 3).) The total judgment amount of \$100,000 was double the \$50,000 per-incident coverage limit of Ms. Jones's UM policy. (R. p. __ (Renewal Declarations at 2).)

The following day, counsel for Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson wrote to Lyndon's counsel demanding payment of the entire John Doe judgment amount and threatening to bring a bad faith action if payment was not made within 15 days. (R. p. __ (Letter of June 20, 2019).) Because this demand exceeded policy limits, Lyndon declined to pay the judgment as demanded. (R. p. __ (Am. Compl. ¶ 36).)

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 22, 2019, Respondents filed a first-party breach of contract and bad faith action against Lyndon and two other defendants.³ (R. pp. __ (Complaint).) Respondents alleged, in relevant part, that Lyndon breached its contractual obligations under the Policy and engaged in bad faith by (1) failing to appear and defend the John Doe action; (2) failing to exercise good faith and fair dealing in handling the UM claim; and (3) refusing, in bad faith and without reasonable basis, to pay the entire judgment awarded against John Doe. (R. pp. __ (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 52, 79-84).)

³ The other two defendants were Safe Choice Insurance LLC, the agency which brokered the insurance agreement, and Jupiter Managing General Agency, Inc., the claims administrator. (R. pp. __ (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 4-8).) Safe Choice entered into a settlement with Respondents on June 19, 2023. (R. p. __ (Notice of Settlement).) The circuit court entered a default judgment against Jupiter on March 18, 2022. (R. p. __ (Form 4 Order of Default Judgment).) Jupiter subsequently moved to set aside the default. (R. p. __ (Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default).) It is not clear from the online docket whether this motion has been resolved.

On June 8, 2023, Lyndon moved for summary judgment. (R. pp. __ (Lyndon Motion for Summary Judgment).) The circuit court heard argument on Lyndon’s motion on June 21, 2022, prior to selection of the jury. Lyndon argued it was entitled to summary judgment as to Ms. Thompson because she was not a contracting party or a named insured; while she could receive UM benefits under the Policy as an “insured person,” she did not have standing to assert either a breach of contract or a first-party bad faith claim against Lyndon. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 7:3-8:13).) As to both Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson, Lyndon argued that it was entitled to summary judgment because the undisputed facts established that Lyndon had neither breached the Policy nor acted in bad faith. (R. pp. __ (Trial Tr. 9:14-22:19).) Lyndon specifically argued that it had reasonably handled the UM claim, that it had no duty to appear in or defend the John Doe action, and that it never had an opportunity to settle within policy limits. (*Id.*) The circuit court denied the motion and the case proceeded to jury selection and trial.

The case was tried before a jury on June 21-22, 2023. (R. pp. __ (Trial Transcript).) At the conclusion of Respondents’ case-in-chief, the court directed a verdict in their favor on the breach of contract claim, despite the unambiguous terms of the Policy excluding Ms. Thompson as a named insured, and her own testimony that she was not a contracting party. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 311:18-323:1) (granting directed verdict against Lyndon “based on the order of judgment” against John Doe “and the clear testimony in the record that an insurance contract was entered into”).) Lyndon moved for a directed verdict on the bad faith claim, arguing that since Lyndon never had a reasonable opportunity to settle within policy limits, it could not have acted in bad faith. (R. pp. __ (Trial Tr. 324:21-

325:16.) The court denied the motion. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 330:12-20).)

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found in favor of Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson on the bad faith claim. (R. p. __ (Verdict).) The jury awarded damages for breach of contract for Ms. Jones in the amount of \$50,300 and for Ms. Thompson in the amount of \$50,000.⁴ (R. p. __ (Verdict).) The jury further awarded each \$75,000 on the bad faith claim. (*Id.*) Finally, the jury awarded Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson \$350,000 each in punitive damages. (*Id.*) The total judgment against Lyndon amounted to \$950300.

After the jury was discharged but before court adjourned, Lyndon renewed its directed verdict motion. (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 382:19-23).) The circuit court responded, “We’ll indicate that it was properly made, directed verdict motion[.]” (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 382:24-25).)

On July 3, 2023, within 10 days of the jury’s verdict, Lyndon filed consolidated post-trial motions seeking judgment notwithstanding the verdict, *see* Rule 50(b), SCRCPP; a new trial, *see* Rule 59(a), SCRCPP; and/or for reconsideration, *see* Rule 59(e), SCRCPP. (R. pp. __ (Post-Trial Motions).) Lyndon argued, as it had at summary judgment and at the close of Respondents’ case, that Ms. Thompson lacked standing to bring a breach of contract or bad-faith claim against Lyndon because she was neither a contracting party nor a named insured. (R. p. __ (Post-Trial Motions at 6-7).) Lyndon also re-asserted its arguments that the breach of contract and bad faith claims failed as a matter of law

⁴ The additional \$300 awarded to Ms. Jones resulted from Lyndon’s admitted error in applying the incorrect deductible amount (the \$500 deductible for liability claims instead of the \$200 deductible for UM claims). (R. p. __ (Trial Tr. 196:14-19).)

because its handling of Respondents' UM claims was objectively reasonable, it had no duty to appear in the John Doe action; and it never had an opportunity to settle within policy limits. (R. p. __ (Post-Trial Motions at 7-9).) In the alternative, Lyndon maintained it was entitled to a new trial *nisi remittitur* because the jury's award of damages for both the breach of contract claim and the bad faith claim constituted an impermissible double recovery and because the damages award on the breach of contract claim was plainly excessive. (R. p. __ (Post-Trial Motions at 10-11).) Further, Lyndon sought a new trial absolute on the basis that Lyndon was prejudiced by Respondents' counsel's tactic of personally attacking Lyndon's counsel on irrelevant and improper grounds in full view of the jury. Additionally, Lyndon argued it was entitled to a new trial because the jury's verdict was wholly unsupported by the evidence and was fatally inconsistent. (R. p. __ (Post-Trial Motions at 12).) Finally, Lyndon argued that the punitive damages award violated the statutory cap on punitive damages and must be reformed. (R. p. __ (Post-Trial Motions at 13).) The same day it filed its post-trial motions, Lyndon wrote to the court enclosing a copy of the motions and requesting a hearing. (R. p. __ (Letter to Court of July 3, 2023).)

On July 8, 2023, Lyndon again wrote to the court, enclosing a clocked copy of its post-trial motions and again requesting a hearing. (R. p. __ (Letter of July 8, 2023).) Without responding to this request, on July 14, 2023, the circuit court entered an electronic Form 4 Order. (R. p. __ (Form 4 Order of July 14, 2023).) The Form 4 Order contained checkmarks in the box for "jury verdict" and the box for "See attached order (formal order to follow)," and it contained the following additional text:

The Court directed verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs as to Breach of Contract and submitted to the jury the issue of the amount of actual damages as to Breach of Contract.

The jury awarded the following relief:

As to Breach of Contract, the jury awarded actual damages to Plaintiff Jones in the amount of \$50,300 and to Plaintiff Thompson in the amount of \$50,000.

As to Bad Faith Refusal to Pay, the jury awarded consequential damages to Plaintiff Jones in the amount of \$75,000 and to Plaintiff Thompson in the amount of \$75,000.

As to Punitive Damages, the jury awarded punitive damages in the sum of \$350,000 to Plaintiff Jones and \$350,000 to Plaintiff Thompson.

(*Id.*) The Form 4 Order also contained a checkmark in the box for “This order ends the case.” (*Id.*). However, the Order did not refer to or resolve Lyndon’s pending post-trial motions.

Lyndon filed its Notice of Appeal on July 11, 2023, less than 30 days after entry of the Form 4 Order. (R. p. __ (Notice of Appeal).) Respondents moved to remand, contending that the appeal was not ripe because Lyndon’s post-trial motions remained pending. (Motion to Remand, Appellate Case No. 2023-001289 (filed August 21, 2023).) In its return to the motion, Lyndon agreed with Respondents that “a limited remand to the circuit court is necessary to clarify the status of Lyndon’s post-trial motion—and for a ruling on that motion, if necessary—so that this Court will have appellate jurisdiction.” (Return to Motion to Remand, Appellate Case No. 2023-001289 (filed October 9, 2023).)

On January 2, 2024, this Court remanded the case to the circuit court for the limited purpose of ruling on Lyndon’s post-trial motions. (Order, Appellate Case No. 2023-001289 (filed Jan. 2, 2024).) The Court directed the parties to provide periodic status

reports. (*Id.*).

On January 30, 2024, the circuit court conducted a post-trial motions hearing via Zoom. Subsequently, Respondents filed additional briefing in opposition to Lyndon's post-trial motions. On March 27, 2024, without the benefit of further briefing from Lyndon, the circuit court denied Lyndon's post-trial motions. (R. p. __ (Order Denying Post-Trial Motions).) After being informed of the denial of Lyndon's post-trial motions, this Court set a deadline for Lyndon to file its initial brief and designation of matter to the record on appeal, which deadline was subsequently extended to June 27, 2024.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Insurance is a matter of contract. In this case, as in any action involving an alleged breach of an insurance contract and first-party bad faith claim, the threshold question is whether the defendant—here, Lyndon—owes a contractual duty to the plaintiffs—here, Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson. Only the actual parties to an insurance contract (the named insured and his or her spouse if living in the same household) can enforce an insurance contract duties through an action for breach of contract or a first-party claim for bad faith. An outsider to the contract, including even one entitled to benefits as an additional insured, cannot bring such claims.

The judgment in favor of Ms. Thompson violates these settled principles. Under the plain and unambiguous language of the Policy, which must be applied as written, she is neither a contracting party nor a named insured. Indeed, Ms. Thompson has never contended otherwise, as the allegations of the Amended Complaint and her own trial testimony demonstrate. As a matter of law, therefore, this Court should vacate the judgment as to Ms. Thompson.

An insurer owes duties to its insured both to fulfil its contractual obligations and to meet the standard of good faith and fair dealing inherent in every contract. The parameters of these obligations have been defined through multiple decisions of our State courts, as well as federal courts applying South Carolina law.

As a matter of law, Lyndon met its contractual obligations under to provide UM coverage to Ms. Jones and her passengers and acted in good faith in its treatment of her claim. Above all, the *sine qua non* of insurer bad faith—an unreasonable refusal to settle

within policy limits—did not occur here because there was never an opportunity for a policy-limits settlement. The undisputed evidence is that three settlement demands were made to Lyndon, each of which was well above the limits of the UM coverage under the Policy. None of the demands sought payment of the policy limits within a certain limited time period. Moreover, Ms. Jones testified at trial that she would not have accepted a policy-limits offer from Lyndon. Because Ms. Jones never made a policy-limits demand and would not have accepted a policy-limits offer, Lyndon never had an opportunity to settle for policy limits. As a matter of law, therefore, it did not act in bad faith.

For the foregoing reasons, the claims against Lyndon should never have been submitted to the jury. Aside from this, Lyndon should be entitled to a new trial *nisi remittitur* to remedy basic flaws in the jury's verdict. To begin, the award of damages on both the breach of contract and the bad faith claims is a prohibited double recovery. Additionally, the breach of contract damages improperly exceed the maximum amount Lyndon could owe under the Policy, *i.e.*, the remaining UM coverage.

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