THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

---

Case No.: 2019-CP-40-04650

Appellate Case No.: 2023-001289

---

Tasha Jones; and Shaniqua Thompson ..... Respondents,

v.

Lyndon Southern Insurance Company, Safe Choice Insurance, LLC, and  
Jupiter Managing General Agency, Inc. Defendants,

Of which

Lyndon Southern Insurance Company is the ..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

s/Dietrich A. Lake  
Dietrich A. Lake (S.C Bar No.: 69649)  
1004 Calhoun Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
803-750-8311 *office*

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

The trial court did not interpret Lyndon Southern's post-trial renewal of a "directed verdict motion" as a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict as Lyndon Southern did not state the specific grounds for its' post-trial motion.

Rule 6, SCRCP specifies the amount of time allowed to file motions. As it relates to motions filed pursuant to Rule 50 and Rule 59 SCRCP, Rule 6(b) states that "the time for taking any action under rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) may not be extended except to the extent and under the conditions stated in them." Rule 6 prohibits this appellate court from enlarging the time frame for Lyndon Southern to file post-trial motions when Lyndon Southern did not comply with the conditions as stated in both rules. In other words, Rule 50(b) and Rule 59 motions for new trials required Lyndon Southern to either argue its' motion(s) for any new trial motions at the discharge of the jury or Lyndon Southern was required to request, pursuant to a motion, that the trial court grant additional time to file its' post-trial motions to preserve Lyndon Southern's right to be heard by the trial court on its' motions for a new trial; Lyndon Southern did neither. Lyndon Southern's failed to adhere to the timing limitations for filing post- trial motions for new trials as promulgated in both Rule 50 and Rule 59.

Our Supreme Court has consistently held that "if a rule's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary, and the stated meaning should be enforced." *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 591 S.E.2d 26 (S.C. 2003). The court further stated in *Genez* that our courts should apply "the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes." Our courts have held that a South Carolina statute should be interpreted according to its' "clear meaning." *Nucor Steel, a Div. of Nucor Corp. v. South Carolina Public Service Com'n*, 426 S.E.2d 319, 310 S.C. 539 (S.C. 1992). The *Nucor* case limits the authority of this trial court to enlarge the

time frame for the Defendant Lyndon Southern to file any post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 50 and/or Rule 59 SCRPC, since the language of both rules is clear in its requirement that a party has to argue its' post-trial motions at the discharge of the jury or request additional time to file any post-trial motions pursuant to a motion to the court for additional time to file post-trial motions. *Nucor* goes on to hold that "The well settled rule in South Carolina is that, where possible, all provision of a statute must be given full force and effect." Also citing, *Bradford v. Byrnes*, 221 S.C. 255, 70 S.E.2d 228 (1952).

Our courts have determined that abuse of discretion occurs only when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019). Lyndon Southern's appellate brief does not address whether Lyndon Southern believes that both Rule 50 and Rule 59 do not impose additional time limitations for filing post-trial motions along with the ten (10) day rule to file a post-trial motion.

Lyndon Southern had multiple opportunities to timely file its' post-trial motions but failed to do so. Lyndon Southern verbally waived its' rights before the trial court to file post-trial motions pursuant to both Rule 50 and Rule 59, SCRPC; furthermore, Lyndon Southern filed no post-trial motions for new trial at the time of discharge nor did Lyndon Southern pursuant to motion request that the court grant it additional time to file any post-trial motions. Our Courts have defined "**waiver**" as a "voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right." *Eason v. Eason*, 384 S.C. 473, 682 S.E.2d 804 (S.C. 2009). Lyndon Southern knew it had the right to file post-trial motions after the jury returned its' verdict and should have known of the rules of limitations contained within both Rule 50 and Rule 59 requiring that any post-trial motions be made promptly after the discharge of the jury or made pursuant to a motion for additional time

to file its' post-trial motion with the court within ten (10) days after the discharge of the jury. Lyndon Southern waived and abandoned that right to any post-trial considerations; therefore, Lyndon Southern cannot now claim that it did not have time to file and/or notify the trial court of its' request to file post-trial motions in this case.

The trial court did not abuse its' discretion nor was the trial court's decision controlled by an error of law when the trial court determined that Lyndon Southern was not entitled to a new trial because Lyndon Southern did not timely file its' post-trial motions pursuant to the mandatory time limitations of Rule 50 and Rule 59 SCRPC. Lyndon Southern did knowingly and voluntarily waive its' right to consideration of any post-trial motions (to include the de novo review of the punitive damage award); this abandonment of that right by Lyndon Southern was done intentionally and knowingly.

This Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Lyndon Southern's request for a new trial based upon the trial court's determination that Lyndon Southern failed to timely its' post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 50 and Rule 59, SCRPC.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **II. LYNDON SOUTHERN DID NOT PRESERVE ITS' ISSUES FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND CANNOT CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISIONS FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.**

Lyndon Southern did not seek reconsideration of any issue by the trial court in the trial Court's Order of March 27, 2024; therefore, Lyndon Southern's failure to address the findings of the final order is fatal to Lyndon Southern's appeal. It should be noted that rules regarding preserving issues are designed to "give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues." *Queen's Grant v. Greenwood Development*, 368 S.C.342, 628 S.E.2d. 902 (S.C.App. 2006). Lyndon Southern failed to provide the trial court with the opportunity to rule upon and/or reconsider the issues laid out in its'

appeal; therefore, the issues presented by Lyndon Southern in its' appeal cannot be considered by this appellate court as the issues were not preserved for review.

**A. Issues Must Be Both Raised and Ruled Upon By The Trial Court To Be Preserved For Appellate Review.**

Our courts have consistently and clearly held that for an issue to be properly preserved for an appeal, the issue must have been both raised and ruled upon by the trial court. *State v. Smith*, 383 S.C. 159, 679 S.E.2d 176 (S.C. 2009); Also see, *Elam*. Furthermore, our courts have held that arguments cannot be presented on appeal unless the arguments have been “fairly and properly raised at the trial court and ruled upon by that trial court. *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C.132, 705 S.E.2d 51 (2011). South Carolina law requires the losing party to try and convince the trial court that it ruled in error; if unsuccessful, then move to convince the appellate court that the trial court erred in a ruling of law. *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). Our courts have determined that our issue preservation rules are “meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. *Id.* Furthermore, constitutional issues are not exempt from the preservation rule requirements. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2012).

**B. Lyndon Southern Was Required To Seek Reconsideration Of The Final Court Order of March 27, 2024 In The Trial Court Before Filing Its' Appeal**

Lyndon Southern had an opportunity to present its' untimely filed arguments to the trial court regarding preventing a double recovery for Ms. Jones and Ms. Thompson at the discharge of the jury; furthermore, Lyndon Southern had an opportunity to present its' untimely filed arguments to the trial court regarding allegations of improper attacks on their counsel, Ransome H. Helmly, Esquire, at the discharge of the jury. Lyndon

Southern failed to secure a ruling on either of these two issues at the discharge of the jury or any other time thereafter. Our Courts have determined that Rule 59(e) provides the mechanism by which the losing party can preserve its' argument for appellate review by requesting that the trial court reconsider the trial court's final decision. *Pelican Bldg. Centers of Horry-Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C 56, 427 S.E.2d 673 (1993). The losing party is required to file a motion to alter or amend the judgment to preserve an issue for appellate review when the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the lower court failed to rule upon the issue. *Id.*; *See also, l'On*.

Lyndon Southern had ten (10) full days from March 27, 2024, to file its' motion to reconsider the trial court's order that did not rule upon either the issue regarding double recovery or the issue regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial. Although the trial court typically maintains jurisdiction only to reconsider motions "timely" filed by Lyndon Southern regarding double recovery or the issue regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial, Lyndon Southern was still required to file a Rule 59 motion to preserve these issues for appellate review and consideration. Our Supreme Court has held that even the filing of an appeal does not deprive the trial court of jurisdiction to hear a timely filed Rule 59 motion. *Hudson v. Hudson*, 290 S.C. 215, 349 S.E.2d, 341 (1986). Lyndon Southern has no excuses for not filing a Rule 59(e) motion to ask the trial court to issue a ruling regarding double recovery and/ or issue a ruling regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial to preserve these issues for appellate review. Lyndon Southern is the losing party in this case and Lyndon Southern raised issues in its' post-trial motions (and in this appeal) regarding double recovery and improper attacks on its' counsel to the trial court; however, there is no

record that the trial court ever ruled upon either of the two (2) above-stated issues. Lyndon Southern was required to act to preserve its' arguments on these two issues by filing a motion to reconsider, thereby, allowing the court to issue a ruling on the matters regarding double recovery and improper attack on its' counsel. Lyndon Southern's failed to act by filing a Rule 59(e) motion regarding the March 27, 2024, Order which has resulted in these two issues not being preserved for appellate review.

Lyndon Southern's brief does not address whether it believes those two issues were preserved for appellate review. Lyndon Southern's brief also does not address whether the trial court maintained jurisdiction to hear its' post-trial motions in light of the trial court's ruling that Lyndon's Southern's post-trial motions were untimely filed with the trial court. Lyndon Southern clearly knows for a fact that the trial court's Order of March 27, 2024, contains no ruling nor does it make any reference to Lyndon Southern's arguments regarding double recovery or the issue regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial for appellate review. South Carolina courts have held that "until the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling", that an appellate court is unable to find error. *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct.App.2004). This appellate court must not find error on these two arguments by Lyndon Southern because there is no ruling in the record or in the trial court's order regarding Lyndon Southern's argument regarding double recovery to the Respondents or Lyndon Southern's argument regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel. Issues and/or arguments must be presented to and ruled upon by the trial court to be appealable. *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 406 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 2013).

Lyndon Southern utilized its' untimely Rule 50 and Rule 59 motions as a vehicle

to request new trials pursuant to either a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or new trial absolute or new trial *nis remittitur* or as a mechanism for altering or amending the judgment; however, Lyndon Southern's only Rule 59 motion did not seek a ruling on the issue of double recovery or the issue regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial. Lyndon Southern clearly had time to seek a ruling on those issues but failed to do so. Our courts have long held that Rule 59(e) motions have been viewed as a "motion for consideration." See, *Elam*. A motion for consideration allows the losing party to request that the trial court "reconsider" a decision that the losing party believes that the trial court misunderstood or failed to fully consider or where the trial court failed to rule on a matter. *Id.*

Lyndon Southern was required to seek reconsideration of the March 27, 2024, Order because the trial court had not ruled upon all of the issues raised in Lyndon Southern's untimely filed motions. Rule 59(e) states that, "A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order." Lyndon Southern arguments in its' brief ignores the fact that Lyndon Southern's post-trial motion to alter or amend the judge was filed on July 3, 2023, while the while the written notice of the entry of the final Order by the court was not entered until March 27, 2024. Lyndon Southern does not argue that the trial court's written notice of the entry of the order was done before July 3, 2023; therefore, Lyndon Southern would have had ten (10) days from March 27, 2024, to file its' Rule 59(e) motion. Lyndon Southern failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion after March 27, 2024. Lyndon Southern cannot excuse its' failure to seek a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration nor can Lyndon Southern excuse its' failure to file a motion to alter or amend the judgment because it lacked time and/or opportunity to do so after the final

order on March 27, 2024. Although there is an issue as to whether the trial court maintained jurisdiction over the Rule 59(e) motion since the trial court determined that the initial post-trial motions were untimely filed, Lyndon Southern still had an obligation to file a subsequent Rule 59(e) motion after the Order of March 27, 2024, to have the trial court rule on the issue regarding double recovery or the issue regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel during the trial. See, *Oxner*.

This appellate court has stressed that the losing party must seek a Rule 59(e) reconsideration from the trial court to preserve its' issues for appellate review. See *Caldwell*. This appellate court in *Caldwell* held that the appellant did not preserve her issues and arguments for appellate review; therefore, the appellant was barred from making such arguments because she had failed to seek reconsideration under Rule 59(e). Likewise, Lyndon Southern cannot ignore the fact that filing a Rule 59(e) motion after the March 27, 2024, Order would have provided Lyndon Southern with the method and path to challenge the trial court's lack of ruling on the issue of double recovery and/or improper attack on Lyndon Southern's counsel at trial. Lyndon Southern failed to file a motion to reconsider; therefore, Lyndon Southern's arguments concerning double recovery and/or Lyndon Southern's argument regarding allegations of improper attacks on Lyndon Southern's counsel are not preserved for this appellate court's review. This appellate should determine that there was no error by the trial on the issue regarding double recovery and improper attack on its' counsel because these issues were not preserved for appellate review.

## ARGUMENT

### III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED ALL OF LYNDON SOUTHERN'S POST-TRIAL MOTIONS AND THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISIONS WERE NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AMOUNTING TO AN ERROR OF LAW.

#### Direct Verdict

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